11-9-2015

## State v. Malec Appellant's Brief Dckt. 42508

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### Nature of the Case

Following a Christmas night incident at his residence involving his stepson Justin Eilers, a professional mixed martial arts fighter, James Malec was charged with second degree murder. Mr. Malec proceeded to trial on the charge of second degree murder and presented a claim of self defense. The jury acquitted Mr. Malec of second degree murder, but convicted him of the lesser offense of voluntary manslaughter apparently finding that Mr. Malec “acted *unlawfully* upon a sudden quarrel or heat of passion and without malice aforethought in causing such death.” On appeal, Mr. Malec contends that the district court erred in excluding as unfairly prejudicial Defense Exhibit C, a DVD depicting Mr. Eilers participating in a mixed martial arts match as the video is relevant to Mr. Malec’s claim of self defense. Additionally, Mr. Malec asserts the district court deprived him of his right to due process when it failed to preserve the video deposition of Gary John which was viewed as evidence in Mr. Malec’s trial.

### Statement of Facts and Course of Proceedings

Thirty-year old Justin Eilers was a 6’2”, 230 pound professional mixed martial arts fighter. (Tr., p.106, Ls.17-25.) Mixed martial arts (“MMA”) is a “very violent,” “vicious,” “contact sport” where two individuals attempt to incapacitate each other by knocking the other person unconscious or obtaining a submission. (See Tr., p.107, Ls.14-25, p.358, L.24 – p.360, L.6.) Mr. Eilers was so talented in his craft that he even fought in Pay Per View fights in the UFC.<sup>1</sup> (Tr., p.359, Ls.9-12.)

---

<sup>1</sup> The Ultimate Fighting Championship touts itself as the “world’s leading MMA promoter.” See <http://www.ufc.com/discover/ufc/index>, last visited November 8, 2015. See also <http://www.ufc.com/fighter/Justin-Eilers>, last visited November 8, 2015.

On December 25, 2008, James Malec and his wife, Gwen Moore, hosted a Christmas party of their residence in Canyon County, Idaho. (Tr., p.90, Ls.2-15.) Mr. Malec is a 5'8", 49-year-old retired law enforcement officer with no prior martial arts training. (Tr., p.367, Ls.13-20.) Among the attendees at the party was Justin Eilers, who was Ms. Moore's son and Mr. Malec's step-son. (Tr., p.89, Ls.3-4.) Before the night in question, Mr. Malec and Mr. Eilers enjoyed a good relationship. (Tr., p.333, Ls.7-15, p.357, Ls.3-5.)

During the party, both Mr. Malec and Mr. Eilers were consuming alcohol. (Tr., p.92, Ls.7-9.) Ms. Moore testified that Mr. Eilers was intoxicated, telling the jury that he "had been drinking quite a bit." (Tr., p.93, Ls.22-24.) In fact, Mr. Eiler's blood alcohol level was a .17. (Jury Instruction No. 9.)<sup>2</sup> At some point in the night, while Mr. Malec and Ms. Moore were in the kitchen, Mr. Eilers got into an argument with his ex-girlfriend Melanie Cox about the treatment and parenting of their son T.E. (Tr., p.90, L.24 – p.91, L.5, p.94, Ls.19-23, p.375, Ls.9-19.) The argument between Mr. Eilers and Ms. Cox started inside the residence, but as it became more heated, moved outside. (Tr., p.196, L.12 – p.197, L.25.) Mr. Malec and Ms. Moore remained inside the residence and continued to do the dishes. (Tr., p.375, Ls.9-19.) Mr. Eilers was yelling throughout the argument. (Tr., p.197, Ls.5-22.) After between 15 to 30 minutes of argument outside, Ms. Cox terminated the argument saying, "I just cannot deal with this yelling anymore" and walked away. (Tr., p.198, Ls.22 – p.199, L.6, p.217, L.21 – p.218, L.8.) Mr. Eilers went back inside the residence. (Tr., p.376, Ls.21-25.)

---

<sup>2</sup> The Jury Instructions given at trial are attached to a Motion to Augment filed contemporaneously with this brief.

Mr. Eilers came into the area between the kitchen and laundry and made several comments to Ms. Moore and Mr. Malec.<sup>3</sup> (Tr., p.376, L.23 - p.378, L.2.) Ms. Moore described her son as furious. (Tr., p.110, Ls.18-21.) Ms. Moore attempted to calm Mr. Eilers down but he just got “louder” and “[m]ore angry.” (Tr., p.94, L.19 – p.95, L.5.) Mr. Eilers then “took his arm and swiped everything off the counter.” (Tr., p.95, Ls.6-12, p.378, Ls.3-4.) Ms. Moore asked Mr. Eilers to leave and Mr. Eilers “stood his ground in front of her.” (Tr., p.379, Ls.15-22.)

Mr. Malec watched Mr. Eilers go back and forth with this mother and observed that Mr. Eilers “swept again and swept, and appeared to hit [Ms. Moore].” (Tr., p.382, Ls.9-14.) Between the first and second swipes of the table, Mr. Eilers taunted Mr. Malec, “What you got, old man? Put one in me. Put one in me.” (Tr., p.386, Ls.16-24.) After the second sweep, Mr. Malec testified that Mr. Eiler’s stated, “I’ll kill you. I’ll do it.” (Tr., p.385, Ls.14-19.) Mr. Malec stated “You need to leave” and then after a second said “You need to get back. You need to get down on the ground now. You need to get down.” (Tr., p.383, L.20 – p.384, L.2.) At this point, Mr. Malec had drawn his handgun and pointed it in Mr. Eilers’ direction, in a high ready position.<sup>4</sup> (Tr., p.384, Ls.3-7, p.385, Ls.1-3.) Mr. Eilers testified that Mr. Eilers “took a step forward, raised his hands” and “at that point I shot him.” (Tr., p.386, Ls.1-2.) At the moment the shot was fired, Mr. Malec testified that Mr. Eilers was five to six feet from him. (Tr., p.407, Ls.23-25.) Mr. Eilers died of a single bullet wound to the chest. (Tr., p.261, L.1 – p.262, L.9.)

In January of 2009, Mr. Malec was charged by Information with second degree murder. (R., pp.62-63.) Prior to trial, the State filed a Motion for Deposition of Material

---

<sup>3</sup> Mr. Malec testified that Mr. Eilers said “Fuck you, Mom. Fuck you, Jim.” (Tr., p.379, Ls.5-8.)

Witness when it discovered that one of its material witnesses, Gary John, was scheduled to be out of the country during the time of the scheduled trial. (R., pp.95-96.) The district court then issued an order for the pre-trial deposition of Mr. John. (R., p.109.) Mr. Malec proceeded to trial and was convicted of the lesser offense of voluntary manslaughter. (R., pp.143-172.) Following a sentencing hearing, the district court imposed a unified sentence of fifteen years, with six and one-half years fixed, upon Mr. Malec. (R., pp.210-211.) Although Mr. Malec did not initially appeal, his appellate rights were reinstated following the grant of his Petition for Post Conviction Relief. (R., pp.241-242.) Following the grant of his post conviction petition, Mr. Malec timely appealed. (R., pp.244-246.)

---

<sup>4</sup> Mr. Malec described a “high ready position” as “I just put it above, you know, above the person.” (Tr., p.385, Ls.9-10.)

## ISSUES

1. Did the district court err by excluding Defendant's Exhibit C, a DVD depicting Mr. Eilers participating in a mixed martial arts match, which was relevant to Mr. Malec's claim of self defense and not unduly prejudicial?
2. Did the district court deprive Mr. Malec of his right to due process when it failed to preserve the video deposition of Gary John which was viewed as evidence in Mr. Malec's trial?

## ARGUMENT

### I.

#### The District Court Erred By Excluding Defendant's Exhibit C, A DVD Depicting Mr. Eilers Participating In A Mixed Martial Arts Match, Which Was Relevant To Mr. Malec's Claim Of Self Defense And Was Not Unduly Prejudicial

##### A. Introduction

The State filed a Motion *in Limine* to prevent Mr. Malec from presenting a video showing Mr. Eilers participating in a mix martial arts competition. Following an offer of proof by the defense, the district court ruled that while the video did have relevance, it was unduly prejudicial to the State. Mr. Malec asserts that the district court erred in excluding the video as it was relevant to his self defense claim and presented very little if any prejudice to the State.

##### B. The District Court Erred By Excluding Defendant's Exhibit C, A DVD Depicting Mr. Eilers Participating In A Mixed Martial Arts Match, Which Was Relevant To Mr. Malec's Claim Of Self Defense And Was Not Unduly Prejudicial

Prior to trial, the State filed a Motion *in Limine* asking the district court to exclude a DVD showing Mr. Eilers participating in an MMA match arguing that said video was "irrelevant and unfairly prejudicial." (R., pp.136-137.) The video shows Mr. Eilers participating in a sanctioned, professional MMA match with another competitor. (Defendant's Exhibit C.)<sup>5</sup> In the short video, Mr. Eilers moves in, quickly strikes the other athlete with his fist, knocking the man to the canvas. (Defendant's Exhibit C.) Mr. Eilers then pounces on top of the other man, striking the fighter repeatedly, incapacitating the man and causing a stoppage of the fight within ten seconds of the punch. (Defendant's Exhibit C.) At the hearing on the State's Motion *in Limine*, the

prosecutor argued “as stated by counsel, the reasoning of getting that video in is one to show how quick[] Justin Eilers was and that he could move in that rather limited space fairly quickly, which would go to the defendant’s feeling of a threat and why he responded that way.” (Tr., p.46, Ls.21-25.) In arguing that the video was irrelevant and unfairly prejudicial, the State continued,

And when we look at the video, what we see are two fighters, both of whom have assumed the risk. They agree to the type of conduct, recognizing the level of danger that’s in there. How Justin Eilers was in the ring is not really a fair issue for the jury to decide or use in its determination. There’s a huge difference between getting into a fair fight with a referee sitting there and people watching and acting in a certain way.

And if the jury were to see the level of violence that is there, they may translate that level of violence to a completely unrelated, dissimilar activity. And because of that, the State feels that that's unfair prejudice.

(Tr., p.47, Ls.10-21.)

Defense counsel responded,

[W]ith regard to a video, I understand Mr. James’ argument. I mean, it’s an argument that I guess the State makes. But to say that its irrelevant when you talk about two individuals, presumably in roughly the same shape, roughly the same size, one of them closes in less than a second, knocks the individual to the ground, and pummels him until he’s unconscious, until referees have to take him off, he knows about Justin Eilers’ propensity and abilities in the ring. That is part of the decision making process.

...

This individual had the ability to - - to cause grievous bodily harm. And to suggest that a video, a very short video of his fighting abilities is irrelevant, demonstrative of his fighting abilities, and which demonstrates the kind of matches that Mr. Malec has observed personally of Justin Eilers, down close and personal.

Well, Judge, relevance is relevance. And it does tend to prove a fact that is at issue. And that is why . . . Mr. Malec [did] react in the way he did with what he was confronted with. That’s why it is relevant. Its not

---

<sup>5</sup> Contemporaneously with this brief, Mr. Malec has filed a Motion to Augment the record Defense Exhibit C, which was offered and admitted during trial.

prejudicial. We're not talking about a witness. We're not talking about a defendant. Thank you.

(Tr., p.55, L.21 - p.56, L.19.) The State responded by arguing that MMA is a brutal sport and Mr. Eilers was just participating in a sport and following the rules. (Tr., p.56, L.21 - p.58, L.8.) The defense countered, "Judge, this is self-defense to a homicide. What would be unfair and prejudicial is this gentleman not to be able to put in all of the data that he had available to him to make a decision when he made the decision that he did." (Tr., p.58, Ls.19-23.) The district court concluded it could not rule on the admissibility of the video until evidence was offered at trial. (See Tr., p.60, L.8 - p.62, L.2.)

During the trial, the sole defense of the case centered around self defense as both parties conceded that Mr. Malec shot and killed Mr. Eiler on that Christmas night. (Jury Instruction No. 9 ("James Malec shot Justin Eilers on December 25, 2008, which ultimately resulted in the death of Justin Eilers.")) At trial, the defense provided an offer of proof, wherein Mr. Malec testified that he had personally seen Mr. Eilers fight MMA, was aware of his style, his ability to close quickly, put a person on the mat, and pummel them into submission.<sup>6</sup> (Tr., p.361, L.7 - p.362, L.11.) The district court then ruled as follows, "I can understand the argument that it is - - that there is some relevance to it. . . . But based on my viewing of that clip . . . and the fact that the circumstances would be dissimilar . . . I think that the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighs the relevance that it would serve as a demonstrative exhibit." (Tr., p.365, Ls.15-25.)

Then, at trial, Mr. Malec testified that Mr. Eilers was five to six feet from him, challenging him to a fight, threatening to kill him, physically assaulting Ms. Moore, and

---

<sup>6</sup> Mr. Malec acknowledged that he had not seen Defense Exhibit C until trial. (Tr., p.362, L.19 - p.363, L.8.)

advancing in his direction at the time of the shooting. (See Tr., p.383, L.20 - p.384, L.7, p.385, Ls.1-3, 14-19, p.386, Ls.1-24, p.407, Ls.23-25.) Mr. Malec testified that based upon Mr. Eilers' anger, actions, physical prowess, athleticism, and fighting ability, his only option was to shoot Mr. Eilers or let Mr. Eilers attack him and be seriously injured or killed. (Tr., p.389, L.25 - p.390, L.8.)

Mr. Malec submits that the district court erred excluding Defense Exhibit C.

1. The District Court Correctly Determined That The DVD Was Relevant To Mr. Malec's Claim Of Self Defense

Whether evidence is relevant is a question of law that an appellate court reviews *de novo*. *State v. Joy*, 155 Idaho 1, 6 (2013). "All relevant evidence is admissible except as otherwise provided by these rules or by other rules applicable in the courts of this state. Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible." I.R.E. 402. The Idaho Rules of Evidence define "relevant evidence" as "evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." I.R.E. 401. "Whether a fact is 'of consequence' or material is determined by its relationship to the legal theories presented by the parties." *State v. Shackelford*, 150 Idaho 355, 364 (2010) (quoting *State v. Yakovac*, 145 Idaho 437, 444 (2008)). "[W]hen examining relevancy, we look to whether the fact that the statement was made is relevant to a legal theory presented by the parties." *Id.* at 365.

The DVD depicting Mr. Eiler participating in a mixed martial arts match is relevant because it has a tendency to make it more probable that Mr. Malec was acting objectively reasonable in shooting Mr. Eiler that night. Mr. Malec's theory of the case

was that he acted in self-defense. In order for self defense to be a complete defense to second degree murder, the jury must find all of the following:

1. The defendant must have believed that the defendant was in imminent danger of death or great bodily harm.
2. In addition to that belief, the defendant must have believed that the action the defendant took was necessary to save the defendant from the danger presented.
3. The circumstances must have been such that a reasonable person, under the circumstances, would have believed that the defendant was in imminent danger of death or great bodily injury and believed that the action taken was necessary.
4. The defendant must have acted only in response to that danger and not for some other motivation.
5. When there is no longer any reasonable appearance of danger, the right of self-defense ends.

(Jury Instruction 20.)

At trial, Mr. Malec testified that, based upon his knowledge of Mr. Eilers' physical capabilities, Mr. Malec believed he was in imminent danger and the action taken was his only option. (Tr., p.389, L.25 - p.390, L.8.) Thus, the only questions before the jury were whether an actual danger was imminent and whether Mr. Malec acted objectively reasonable. The DVD provides evidence, through a recorded demonstration, of Mr. Eilers ability to close a distance quickly to strike and incapacitate another person in a very short period of time. In fact, it was the only evidence that could accurately portray Mr. Eilers physical presence and athleticism as Mr. Eilers was deceased at the time of trial. Thus, the DVD makes the existence of a fact, that Mr. Malec was in imminent danger and acted objectively reasonable, more probable than it would be without the evidence.

Accordingly, Defendant's Exhibit C was relevant.

2. The Probative Value Of The DVD Was Not Outweighed By The Possibility Of Unfair Prejudice

The probative value of the DVD was not outweighed by the possibility of unfair prejudice. “As with the admissibility of any piece of evidence, where the probative value of the statement[s] is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice . . . this evidence should be excluded.” *State v. Goodrich*, 97 Idaho 472, 477 (1976); see *Shackelford*, 150 Idaho at 364. This essentially requires an analysis of the exclusion of the DVD under Idaho Rule of Evidence 403, which allows for the exclusion of relevant evidence “if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.” See I.R.E. 403. This inquiry does not center on “whether the evidence is harmful to the strategy of the party opposing its introduction,” but on whether the evidence “invites inordinate appeal to lines of reasoning outside the evidence or emotions which are irrelevant to the decision making process.” *State v. Rhoades*, 119 Idaho 594, 604 (1991).

To the extent the State has a constitutional right that can be prejudiced, the probative value of the DVD was not outweighed by the possibility of unfair prejudice, because the DVD does not invite “inordinate appeal to lines of reasoning outside the evidence or emotions which are irrelevant to the decision making process.” See *id.* The State suffers little, and likely, no prejudice by the presentation of the video. Rather, the DVD in question depicts an MMA competition between Mr. Eilers and another participant. The event is legal and all parties consent to the contact. In other words, it is a sporting event that Mr. Eilers is participating in, not a street fight where Mr. Eilers is breaking the law as would be the nature of a prior bad act as contemplated by Idaho Rule of Evidence 404(b). In fact, throughout the trial, the jury had already been informed that Mr. Eiler was a professional MMA fighter that had fought in Pay Per View

events. The video just depicts for the jury, in terms of an actual recording of Justin Eilers, what it had already been told by witnesses in the case. That MMA is a brutal and violent sport does not make the video prejudicial. Rather, it makes it even more relevant as it shows Mr. Eilers capability to do serious harm, from a distance, in a very short period of time, all of which is relevant and necessary for the jury to determine whether Mr. Malec acted in self defense.

Accordingly, the probative value of the DVD was not outweighed by the possibility of unfair prejudice and as a result, the district court erred in excluding the video.

C. The State Will Be Unable To Prove That The Error Is Harmless

The State will be unable to prove that the exclusion of the DVD was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Where alleged error is followed by a contemporaneous objection and the appellant shows that an error occurred, the State bears the burden of proving the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, based upon the test articulated by the United States Supreme Court in *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18 (1967). See *State v. Perry*, 150 Idaho 209, 227 (2010). "To hold an error as harmless, an appellate court must declare a belief, beyond a reasonable doubt, that there was no reasonable possibility that such evidence complained of contributed to the conviction." *State v. Sharp*, 101 Idaho 498, 507 (1980) (citing *Chapman*, 386 U.S. at 24).

This was obviously a close case in which the jury struggled to reach a conclusion, as evidenced by Mr. Malec being acquitted of second degree murder, only to be found guilty of voluntary manslaughter for acting "unlawfully upon a sudden quarrel or heat of passion." (Jury Instruction No. 20.) Thus, it is apparent that although Mr. Malec believed his actions were reasonable, the jury did not find they were

objectively reasonable, and as a result his reaction to a sudden quarrel was unlawful. It cannot be said the error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where the excluded evidence addresses the very element determining whether Mr. Malec had a complete defense to the charge, or was guilty of a lesser offense based upon his mistaken belief that his actions were reasonable.

In short, the State will be unable to prove that the exclusion of the DVD is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

## II.

### The District Court Deprived Mr. Malec Of His Right To Due Process When It Failed To Preserve The Video Deposition Testimony Of Gary John

#### A. Introduction

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