Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-2-2016

State v. Malec Respondent's Brief Dckt. 42508

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

ARGUMENT

Ī.

Malec Has Failed To Establish The District Court Abused Its Discretion By Excluding Irrelevant, Unfairly Prejudicial Evidence

A. Introduction

Before trial, the state moved in limine to exclude two proposed defense exhibits, one of which was a video recording of Justin Eilers participating in a mixed martial arts match. (R., Vol. II, pp.136-37.) The video shows Mr. Eilers striking his opponent, taking him to the ground and repeatedly elbowing him in the head. (Augmentation: Defense Exhibit C.) The defense argued the video was relevant to Malec's self-defense claim because it was "demonstrative of [Mr. Eilers'] fighting abilities," of which Malec claimed to be personally aware at the time he shot Mr. Eilers. (Tr., p.55, L.21 – p.56, L.19, p.58, Ls.9-23.) The state argued the video was irrelevant because Mr. Eilers' conduct in a sanctioned mixed martial arts match was not probative of his conduct outside of the ring. (Tr., p.46, L.17 – p.47, L.5.) Alternatively, the state argued any probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice specifically, that the jury would "see the level of violence that is there [in the mixed martial arts match]" and "translate that level of violence to a completely unrelated, dissimilar activity." (Tr., p.47, Ls.6-21, p.56, L.21 – p.57, L.23.) The district court deferred ruling on the admissibility of the video until trial. (Tr., p.59, L.3 – p.62, L.2.)

Malec testified at trial and, during his testimony, defense counsel attempted to introduce the video recording of Mr. Eilers participating in a mixed

martial arts fight as "demonstrative ... of how Justin Eilers fights and the level of violence." (Tr., p.360, L.7 – p.363, L.23.) During an offer of proof, Malec testified that he had reviewed the video, that he recognized Mr. Eilers in the video and was familiar with his fighting style, that he had personally seen Mr. Eilers fight on at least three occasions, and that he believed the video would "assist [him] in describing the level of violence that's involved in UFC fighting," and "would assist the jury in understanding certain techniques that UFC fighters utilize," "[p]articularly with the ability to close quickly," "[t]o put a person down ... on the mat," "[a]nd the[n] to pummel them to submission." (Tr., p.361, L.3 – p.362, L.11.) Malec acknowledged, however, that he had not seen "[t]his particular video" until "after "December 25, 2008" and, therefore, there was "absolutely no way that this video could have had any impact on [his] decision on December 25, 2008," to shoot Mr. Eilers. (Tr., p.362, L.19 – p.363, L.16.)

Following the offer of proof, the district court excluded the video. (Tr., p.4 – p.366, L.2.) The court stated, "I can understand the argument that it is – that there is some relevance to it" but, based on its "view of that [video] clip and ... the fact that the circumstances would be dissimilar," the court determined that "the danger of the unfair prejudice substantially outweighs the relevance that it would serve as a demonstrative exhibit." (Tr., p.365, Ls.15-25.) The court subsequently elaborated on its ruling, explaining:

I said the unfair prejudice, but there are other things under [I.R.E.] 403, and – for purposes of making a record. Confusion, possibility of misleading the jury. I think that misleading of the jury is potentially a real problem with that. So in the balancing under Rule 403, the court has considered those matters and believes that that supports the exclusion of it.

(Tr., p.366, Ls.15-21.)

Malec challenges the district court's evidentiary ruling, arguing as he did below that video "was relevant to his self defense claim and presented very little if any prejudice to the State." (Appellant's brief, p.6.) Malec's arguments fail. Correct application of the law to the facts of this case shows the video was not relevant to Malec's self-defense claim. Even if marginally relevant, Malec has failed to show the trial court abused its discretion in excluding the video on the basis that it was unfairly prejudicial. Finally, even assuming the court erred in excluding the video, a review of the record shows such error did not contribute to the jury's verdict in this case and was therefore harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

A trial court's decision to admit or exclude evidence is generally reviewed for an abuse of discretion. State v. Grist, 147 Idaho 49, 51, 205 P.3d 1185, 1187 (2009) (citations omitted). Whether evidence is relevant, however, is a question of law reviewed *de novo*. State v. Thomas, 2015 WL 300944 *3 (Idaho, Jan. 23, 2015) (citing State v. Russo, 157 Idaho 299, 308, 336 P.3d 232, 241 (2014)); State v. Shackelford, 150 Idaho 355, 363, 247 P.3d 582, 590 (2010); State v. Meister, 148 Idaho 236, 220 P.3d 1055 (2009).

In reviewing a discretionary decision, the appellate court "examine[s] whether: (1) the trial court correctly perceived the issue as discretionary; (2) the trial court acted within the outer bounds of its discretion and with applicable legal

standards; and (3) the trial court reached its decision through an exercise of reason." Grist, 147 Idaho at 51, 205 P.3d at 1187 (citations omitted); accord Shackelford, 150 Idaho at 363, 247 P.3d at 590. "However, an abuse of discretion may be deemed harmless if a substantial right is not affected. In the case of an incorrect ruling regarding evidence, this Court will grant relief on appeal only if the error affects a substantial right of one of the parties." Shackelford, 150 Idaho at 363, 247 P.3d at 590 (internal citations and quotation marks omitted).

C. <u>Malec Has Failed To Show The District Court Abused Its Discretion In Excluding The Proffered Video</u>

1. The Video Was Not Relevant To Malec's Self-Defense Claim

"Evidence is relevant if it has 'any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." Shackelford, 150 Idaho at 364, 247 P.3d at 591 (quoting I.R.E. 401) (additional citation omitted). "Whether a fact is 'of consequence' or material is determined by its relationship to the legal theories presented by the parties." <u>Id.</u> (citing <u>State v. Yakovac</u>, 145 Idaho 437, 444, 180 P.3d 476, 483 (2008)).

The state's theory at trial was that Malec acted with malice aforethought, and without any legal justification, when he shot and killed Mr. Eilers. (Augmentation: Jury Instruction No. 14 (elements of second degree murder).) Malec, on the other hand, claimed to have acted in self-defense. (Augmentation: Jury Instruction No. 20 (elements of self-defense).) The jury was instructed that,

in order to find that Malec acted in self-defense: (1) Malec must have believed he "was in imminent danger of death or great bodily harm" and that "the action [he] took was necessary to save [him] from the danger presented"; (2) the circumstances were "such that a reasonable person, under similar circumstances, would have believed that [Malec] was in imminent danger of death or great bodily injury and believed that the action taken was necessary"; and (3) Malec "must have acted only in response to that danger and not for some other motivation." (Id.) The jury was also instructed that "[w]hen there is no longer any reasonable appearance of danger, the right of self-defense ends" and "[a] bare fear of death or great bodily injury is not sufficient to justify a homicide." (Id.) Contrary to Malec's assertions below and on appeal, the video of Mr. Eilers participating in a mixed martial arts match was not relevant to any of the elements of Malec's self-defense claim.

Malec specifically testified that the first time he saw the video was after December 25, 2008. (Tr., p.362, L.19 – p.363, L.8.) Thus, as correctly noted by the prosecutor and conceded by Malec below, there was "absolutely no way that [the proffered] video could have had any impact on what Malec was thinking" when he shot and killed Mr. Eilers on December 25, 2008. (Tr., p.363, Ls.9-16.)

Nor was the video in any way relevant to demonstrate that Mr. Eilers was being aggressive at all, much less that he was the first aggressor, in the confrontation that led to his death. The video shows Mr. Eilers participating in sanctioned, mutual combat with another willing participant. (Augmentation: Defense Exhibit C.) Nothing about Mr. Eilers' participation in that match is

probative of whether, at the time Malec shot and killed him in the kitchen of Malec's home, Mr. Eilers was actually acting in the manner depicted on the video or in such other manner that a reasonable person in Malec's position would conclude he was in imminent danger of death or great bodily injury.

Finally, and contrary to Malec's assertions on appeal (Appellant's brief, p.10), the video was not relevant to show the objective reasonableness of Malec's subjective beliefs that he was in imminent danger of great bodily harm and that the action he took was necessary to save him from the danger presented. Malec testified he had personally observed Mr. Eilers participate in at least three mixed martial arts fights, and he sought to admit the video as demonstrative of Mr. Eilers' athleticism and "fighting abilities." (Tr., p.358, L.24 – p.363, L.23; see also Tr., p.55, L.21 – p.56, L.19, p.58, Ls.9-23.) While the video was certainly demonstrative of Mr. Eilers' abilities to fight against a willing opponent in a sanctioned mixed martial arts match, it was in no way probative or demonstrative of his conduct and abilities outside of the ring or of his behavior on the date of his murder. The video shows Mr. Eilers participating in a violent sport in a violent manner. (Augmentation: Defense Exhibit C.) It does not follow, however, that Mr. Eilers would have - or even could have - been equally violent outside of the controlled environment of the boxing ring. There was no evidence that Mr. Eilers' conduct on the video was in any way representative of his conduct either generally, or on the night he was murdered. To the contrary, Malec testified that Mr. Eilers had never physically assaulted him or Ms. Moore and, in fact, he had never seen Mr. Eilers assault anyone outside of the ring.

(Tr., p.399, L.16 – p.400, L.19.) Because the video is only demonstrative of Mr. Eilers' fighting abilities and tendencies in a sanctioned mixed martial arts match, the video was not relevant to show the objective reasonableness of Malec's beliefs and actions outside of that environment.

For all of the reasons state above, the proffered video was not relevant to any of the elements of Malec's self-defense claim. The district court's order excluding the evidence should therefore be affirmed on that basis.

2. <u>Even If Relevant, The District Court Correctly Exercised Its Discretion In Concluding The Probative Value Of The Video Was Substantially Outweighed By The Danger Of Unfair Prejudice</u>

Even if the proffered video were relevant to Malec's self-defense claim, the district court correctly excluded the video pursuant to I.R.E. 403. Under that rule, even relevant evidence "may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice." I.R.E. 403. "Unfair prejudice" is the tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis. State v. Ruiz, 150 Idaho 469, 471, 248 P.3d 720, 722 (2010).

Although Malec argues otherwise (Appellant's brief, pp.11-12), any probative value of the proffered video to support Malec's claim that he shot Mr. Eilers in self-defense was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. As set forth above, while the video was demonstrative of Mr. Eilers' athleticism and ability to fight in sanctioned mixed martial arts match, there was no evidence that the video was also representative of Mr. Eilers' abilities and behavior outside of the ring, either generally or on the night in question. However, even assuming, as the district court appears to have done, that the

video had "some relevance" to Malec's self-defense claim (<u>see</u> Tr., p.365, Ls.15-16), the district court correctly exercised its discretion in excluding the video because it had the very real potential to cause confusion and mislead the jury (<u>see</u> Tr., p.365, L.16 – p.366, L.21).

As argued by the prosecutor below, "[t]here's a huge difference between [Mr. Eilers] getting into a fair fight with a referee sitting there" and the conduct Mr. Eilers was alleged to have engaged in in this case. (Tr., p.47, Ls.10-17.) Again, there was no evidence that Mr. Eilers ever engaged in the level of violence depicted in the video at any time outside of the ring, much less on the night in question. Had the jury been permitted to view the video and "see the level of violence that is there," there is a real danger that "they may [have] translate[d] that level of violence to a completely unrelated, dissimilar activity." (Tr., p.47, Ls.18-20.)

For all of the reasons set forth above, the proffered video was irrelevant or, alternatively, any probative value of the video was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice from its admission. Because the video was irrelevant and/or unfairly prejudicial, Malec has failed to show the court abused its discretion in excluding it.

D. <u>If The Trial Court Erred In Excluding The Proffered Video, Such Error Was Harmless</u>

Even if this Court concludes the trial court erred by excluding the proffered video, reversal is not warranted. The rules of evidence expressly provide that "[e]rror may not be predicated upon a ruling which admits or excludes evidence

unless a substantial right of the party is affected." I.R.E. 103(a); see also I.C.R. 52 ("Any error, defect, irregularity or variance which does not affect substantial rights shall be disregarded."). Consistent with this evidentiary rule, the appellate courts of this state will grant relief from an incorrect ruling regarding the admissibility of evidence "only if the error affects a substantial right of one of the parties." Shackelford, 150 Idaho at 363, 247 P.3d 582 at 590 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted); accord State v. Ehrlick, 158 Idaho 900, 911, 354 P.3d 462, 473 (2014). An erroneous evidentiary ruling is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it did not contribute to the verdict. State v. Perry, 150 Idaho 209, 222, 245 P.3d 961, 974 (2010). Contrary to Malec's assertions on appeal, a review of the record in this case clearly shows that, if the trial court erred in excluding the proffered video, such error did not contribute to the verdict and was therefore harmless.

The proffered purpose of the video was to demonstrate Mr. Eilers' athleticism and fighting capabilities. (Tr., p.358, L.24 – p.363, L.23; see also Tr., p.55, L.21 – p.56, L.19, p.58, Ls.9-23.) Even if the video was relevant and admissible for this purpose, Malec was not prejudiced by its exclusion from evidence at trial. Multiple witnesses, including Malec, testified regarding Mr. Eilers' stature, his athleticism and his occupation as a professional fighter. (Tr., p.106, L.17 – p.107, L.25, p.163, L.18 – p.164, L.13, p.358, L.24 – p.359, L.2, p.367, Ls.3-24.) Malec testified that mixed martial arts is a "[v]iolent and vicious ... contact sport," and that he had personally observed three of Mr. Eilers' mixed martial arts fights. (Tr., p.359, Ls.3-16.) Malec also testified that, during the last

fight he observed, Mr. Eilers used his "[h]ands, elbows, anything that was available at the time" to strike his opponent, and that his opponent and the mat were "bloody." (Tr., p.359, L.17 – p.360, L.6.) The proffered video was, at best, cumulative of the foregoing testimony. Given the strength of the state's case, and the weakness of Malec's claim that Mr. Eilers was engaging in any aggression warranting a lethal reaction, much less the type of aggression depicted on the video (see Statement of Facts and Course of Proceedings, supra), there is no reasonable possibility that the exclusion of the video in any way contributed to the jury's verdict. Any error in the exclusion of the proffered video was therefore harmless and did not affect Malec's substantial rights.

II. Malec's Due Process Claim Is Moot

Malec argues the district court deprived him of his due process right to an adequate appellate record because, according to Malec, the court "did not properly preserve a copy of the deposition testimony of Gary John, which was viewed by the jury during Mr. Malec's trial." (Appellant's brief, pp.13-17; see also Tr., p.278, L.1 – p.279, L.18 (video deposition played for jury); p.281, L.10 – p.282, L.11 (video deposition marked as Joint Exhibit 1).) This issue is moot. After Malec filed his Appellant's brief, the district court clerk produced a copy of the video deposition (Joint Exhibit 1) and, pursuant to the Idaho Supreme Court's order granting Malec's motion to augment, the video deposition is now part of the appellate record. (See 11/13/15 Order Granting Motion To Augment The Record with, *inter alia*, "Joint Exhibit 1(DVD)"; 11/28/15 e-mail notice re: Supplemental

Exhibits Filed, including "Joint Exhibit 1 (DVD).") Because the video deposition

exists and is part of the appellate record, Malec's claim that the district court

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